Dendritic cell immunobiology in relation to liver transplant outcome

Tina L. Sumpter^{1,2}, John G. Lunz III^{1,3}, Antonino Castellaneta^{1,2}, Benjamin Matta^{1,2,4}, Daisuke Tokita^{1,2}, Heth R. Turnquist^{1,2}, George V. Mazariegos^{1,2}, A. Jake Demetris^{1,3}, Angus W. Thomson^{1,2,4}

¹Starzl Transplantation Institute and Departments of ²Surgery, ³Pathology and ⁴Immunology, University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine, 200 Lothrop Street, BST W1540, Pittsburgh, PA 1526

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Immunobiology of liver DC
 - 3.1. Phenotypic characteristics of DC
 - 3.2. DC migration in and out of the liver
 - 3.3. DC-T cell interactions
 - 3.4. Liver DC: relative resistance to LPS-induced stimulation
 - 3.5. DC and liver transplant outcome
- 4. Molecular regulation of liver DC signaling/maturation
- 5. DC-NK/NKT cell interactions
- 6. Liver regeneration and DC function
- 7. Influence of viral hepatitis and liver cancer on DC function
 - 7.1. Viral hepatis and impairment of DC function
 - 7.2. Liver cancer, functional modification of DC and immunotolerance
- 8. Impact of anti-inflammatory and immunosuppressive agents on DC function
- 9. Acknowledgments
- 10. References

1. ABSTRACT

The unique immunologic environment of the liver, together with its anatomic location downstream of the gut, influences the maturation and function of its interstitial dendritic cell (DC) populations. These well-equipped, antigen-presenting cells play critical roles in regulation of innate and adaptive immunity. New information is emerging about the molecular regulation of liver DC maturation and function, and their tolerogenic potential, while new insight is being gained regarding interactions between liver DC and other immune effector cell populations (NK, NKT cells) in addition to T cells. During transplantation, factors that affect liver DC biology include ischemia-reperfusion injury, liver regeneration, viral infection and the actions of anti-inflammatory and immunosuppressive drugs. Herein, we review the molecular and cell biology of hepatic DC populations in relation to the regulation of alloimmune responses and liver transplant outcome.

2. INTRODUCTION

Resident antigen (Ag)-presenting cells (APC) within the liver include leukocytes,-Kupffer cells (KC) and dendritic cells (DC), parenchymal cells (hepatocytes), sinusoid-lining endothelial cells and stellate (Ito) cells. These APC appear to have dual roles in initiating and regulating immune responses. DC play a key role in innate immunity and also orchestrate adaptive immune responses, integrating signals from the extracellular environment with Ag processing and presentation. The outcome of these interactions may be either immune stimulation or tolerance. As discussed herein, the unique liver microenvironment, and various factors related to liver transplantation, that include ischemia-reperfusion injury (IRI), liver regeneration, immunosuppressive drug administration, and viral infection, may determine how these cells influence alloimmune responses and graft outcome.

3. IMMUNOBIOLOGY OF LIVER DC

3.1. Phenotypic characteristics of DC

Various cell surface markers are used to identify and purify rodent and human DC (1-11). CD11c is commonly employed to identify DC in mice. Other Ags, e.g. the mannose receptor, CD205 (formerly DEC205), can help identify mouse DC. It is expressed at higher levels on mouse liver DC compared with spleen DC (12). OX62, an integrin molecule, is often used to identify rat DC. Human DC are lineage. HLA-DR. DC-SIGN (DC-specific intercellular adhesion molecule [ICAM]-3 grabbing non-integrin), a c-type lectin receptor, is used as a marker for immature DC. Recently, the human DC subset-specific markers, blood DC Ag (BDCA)-1 (CD1c), -2 (CD303), -3 (CD141) and -4 (CD304), have been identified and monoclonal antibodies directed against these Ags used to characterize these cells in blood and tissues.

At least four phenotypically and functionally distinct DC subsets have been identified in mouse secondary lymphoid tissue and the liver: conventional myeloid (m) DC (CD11c⁺CD8alpha⁻CD11b⁺ or CD11c⁺ plasmacytoid pDC PDCA-1⁻), (CD11cloB220+Ly-PDCA- 1^+), 6C⁺CD11b⁻ or CD8alpha⁺ (CD11c+CD8alpha+CD11b-) and natural killer (NK) DC (NK1.1⁺ CD11c⁺). mDC acquire Ag in the periphery, then migrate to lymph nodes to initiate T helper (Th) 1, Th2, Th17 or regulatory T cell (Treg) responses. pDC produce type-I interferon (IFN) in response to viral stimulation (13), and may influence the development or the strength of a Treg response (14). CD8alpha⁺ DC have been shown to polarize naïve T cells towards Th1 responses (15), but also to promote organ allograft survival (16). NKDC present Ag to T cells. They also have lytic function (17) and produce IFNgamma via autocrine IL-12 in response to cytidylyl phosphate guanosine (CpG) stimulation (18). The relative abundance of these individual DC subsets differs between the mouse liver and spleen, with the liver containing higher incidences more pDC and NKDC and fewer mDC (3).

In humans, CD8alpha DC and NK DC have not been identified. While mDC (CD11c⁺CD11b⁺lineage [lin] BDCA1⁺ or CD11c⁺CD123⁻lin⁻HLA⁻DR⁺) and pDC (BDCA-2⁺, BDCA-4⁺ or lin⁻ HLA-DR⁺ CD11c⁻ CD123^{hi} or CD4⁺CD11c⁻) have been described in humans, few studies have evaluated these subsets in human liver. mDC have been identified within human liver biopsies and liver perfusate (6). pDC have been identified in human hepatic lymph nodes (10). More recently, both mDC and pDC have been identified in liver tissue from hepatitis C virus (HCV)-infected and non-infected liver disease patients (11). Unfortunately, this study failed to characterize liver DC subsets from non-diseased controls.

3.2. DC migration in and out of the liver

DC are derived from CD34⁺ hematopoietic stem cells and migrate to the liver from the blood via the hepatic sinusoids (19). Under steady-state conditions, small populations of DC are found within the perivenular region, portal space, and beneath the Glisson capsule, with a few DC scattered throughout the parenchyma (20, 21). Freshly-

isolated immature murine liver DC express mRNA for CCR1, 2 and 5 (8). Rat DC precursors expressing CCR1 and CCR5 are recruited to the liver in response to macrophage inflammatory protein-1alpha secreted by KC during inflammation (22, 23). DC recruitment into the rat liver is further facilitated by the binding of KC to N-acetylgalactosamine on the DC (24).

DC differentiate while migrating from the portal to the central vein. These DC then cross the sinusoidal lumen through endothelial pores to the hepatic lymph via the space of Disse (25). In the space of Disse, and the portal tracts, DC form close contacts with lymphocytes (26). Under inflammatory conditions, they are recruited to portal tract-associated lymphoid tissue (PALT) in response to secondary lymphoid organ chemokine (SLC) (22). Within the PALT, DC activate T cells (22). Liver DC also prime T cells in the celiac lymph nodes following uptake of exogenous Ag and migration via the lymph. DC migrate from normal rat livers at a rate of approximately 10⁵ DC/hr (27).

In humans, HCV proteins enhance the secretion of RANTES (the ligand for CCR5) and decrease the secretion of CCL21 (the ligand for CCR7) (28), which is involved in DC homing to secondary lymphoid tissue (22). HCV-DC interactions such as this may alter DC trafficking, favoring retention of immature and mature DC in the liver, and inhibiting subsequent DC-T cell interactions in the peripheral lymphoid tissues.

Following the severing of hepatic lymph vessels, as occurs during liver transplantation, liver-derived DC are found in the spleen and celiac lymph nodes (29). In a model of rat spontaneous liver allograft acceptance (PVG -> DA), donor-derived DC can be identified in recipient celiac lymph nodes, shortly after transplant (30). Lymphocytes in these nodes express elevated IL-2 mRNA and display increased CD25 compared to those in nodes draining skin grafts (30). In the secondary lymphoid organs, donor leukocyte migration is associated with increased T cell apoptosis in animals receiving spontaneously accepted liver grafts compared with more readily rejected kidney grafts (31). These data suggest that donor DC may suppress T cell responses by the induction of recipient CD25⁺ regulatory T cells (Treg) or activationinduced T cell death.

A greater number of donor MHC class II⁺ cells are found in the host's spleen following rat liver transplantation compared to the number of MHC class II⁺ cells in the spleen following transplantation of more readily rejected heart allografts (32). In rats tolerized by donor-specific transfusion (DST) prior to liver transplantation, donor hepatic DC (OX-62⁺) migrate to the splenic red pulp whereas donor DC in control rats (no DST) are found only in the splenic white pulp (33). These findings are particularly interesting given the functions of the splenic red and white pulp, with red pulp involved in filtering of the blood, while the white pulp is thought to be the site of T cell activation (34). Retention of DC in the red pulp may prevent T cell activation in this model.

3.3. DC-T cell interactions

DC resident in normal peripheral tissue are immature, expressing low levels of MHC class II and costimulatory molecules. These immature DC scan the periphery for Ag and are well-equipped for Ag capture, processing and loading onto MHC class II molecules. Endogenous and exogenous 'danger signals', including tumor necrosis factor (TNF) alpha and pathogen-associated molecular pattern (PAMP) molecules, especially Toll-like receptor (TLR) ligands, induce DC maturation. Upon maturation, DC up-regulate expression of MHC class II, intercellular adhesion and co-stimulatory molecules (e.g. CD80, CD86, B7-H1 and inducible costimulatory ligand [ICOSL]) and synthesize large amounts of bioactive IL-12p70 or IL-4. Mature DC traffic to T cell areas of secondary lymphoid tissues in response to CCL19 or CCL21 gradients following up-regulation of CCR7. Interaction between DC expressing Ag in the context of MHC class II and the T cell receptor (TCR) on CD4⁺ T cells leads to proliferation of Ag-specific T helper (Th) cells and differentiation into Th type-1 (Th1) or Th2 cells. DC also play a prominent role in inducing IL-17-producing Th cells (Th17) (35) and Treg (36).

Granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) has been used to expand liver DC progenitors *in vitro* (35, 37). These liver-derived mDC progenitors are functionally immature and weak stimulators of naïve allogeneic T cells (38), but also induce Ag-specific memory T cell proliferation (39). Liver-derived mDC progenitors have high surface expression of CD45, CD11b, CD24 and CD44, and moderate expression of CD11c and CD205 (37, 39). Injection of liver-derived mDC progenitors into allogeneic recipients elicits IL-10- and IL-4-producing T cells (40). By contrast, transfer of mature liver-derived mDC into allogeneic recipients induces IFNgamma-producing T cells (1).

Freshly-isolated liver DC differ phenotypically and functionally from DC isolated from other organs. DC reside in the liver under homeostatic conditions as "immature" APC (2, 3), expressing low levels of surface MHC class II, CD40, CD80 and CD86. Liver DC exhibit impaired Ag uptake compared to their splenic counterparts (3). They express lower levels of MHC class II and CD86 in response to maturation stimuli lipopolysaccharide (LPS) in vitro. Liver mDC, CD8α⁺ DC and pDC up-regulate CCR7 during maturation and migrate to lymphoid tissue (8). The migration route for liver pDC is controversial,- in rats, hepatic pDC are not found in the intestinal or hepatic lymph (9), suggesting that pDC may use alternative migration routes to reach T cells, or that liver pDC may activate T cells primarily within PALT. On the other hand, pDC are found in hepatic lymph nodes of healthy and diseased human livers (41), suggesting that liver pDC can migrate to regional lymphoid tissue in humans.

Freshly-isolated liver DC are poor stimulators of T cell proliferation compared to DC from the spleen (3, 42, 43). Murine liver CD11c⁺ DC express lower basal levels of IL-12 (42) and, following either *in vitro* or *in vivo* LPS

stimulation, secrete less IL-12 (42, 43). Liver mDC are more stimulatory in allogeneic T cell proliferation assays compared to liver pDC (13). Freshly-isolated mouse liver pDC secrete more TNFalpha and less IL-10 compared to spleen pDC (44). In response to viral infection, both liver and spleen pDC secrete IFNalpha, though this response is independent of both the receptor for viral CpG (TLR9) and the downstream signaling molecule, MyD88 in liver pDC (45). In humans, DC isolated after their *ex vivo* migration from liver tissue secrete elevated levels of IL-10, and are poor stimulators of T cell proliferation when compared to DC isolated from the skin in a similar manner (7).

Based on these observations, one might predict that the CD4⁺ T cells in the liver are polarized towards at Th2 phenotype. Indeed, liver CD4⁺ T cells analyzed *ex vivo* secrete elevated IL-4, IL-5 and IL-10, but also elevated IFNgamma compared to splenic CD4⁺ T cells in response to TLR and CD28 ligation *in vitro*(46). *In vivo* studies of Ag-specific T cells reveal increased apoptosis of Th1 cells in the liver mediated by CD11c⁺ DC, resulting in a Th2 bias within the liver (47). The down-regulated Th1 response induced by liver DC may play a role in allograft survival.

DC are potent inducers of Th17 cells, which have been reported to be both pro- and anti-inflammatory. Th17 cells secrete IL-22, that may act as an anti-inflammatory cytokine in the liver in response to LPS. IL-22 upregulates release of LPS-binding protein from hepatocytes (48) and is protective against acute liver injury in a murine hepatitis model (49, 50). The role of liver DC in the initiation of Th17 responses is yet to be discerned; this information may provide prove insightful in relation to liver tolerance.

The outcome of liver DC - T cell interactions may also be expansion/generation of either forkhead box P3 (Foxp3)⁺ Treg or IL-10-secreting T regulatory type 1 (Tr1) cells. Tr1 cells are generated in response to high concentrations of IL-10, which are found in the liver. In vitro, mature human pDC induce Treg that are either transforming growth factor (TGF)beta-and IL-10-independent (51), or IL-10-dependent inhibitors of T effector cell proliferation (52). AlloAg-presenting pDC and Treg interactions in lymph nodes promote allograft survival in mice (14). Induction of liver allograft tolerance has been ascribed to Treg activity and liver rejection to Treg depletion (53). These findings contrast with a recent report suggesting that Treg are not required for liver allograft acceptance (54). Most recently, Foxp3 mRNA expression has been evaluated in biopsy samples from human liver transplant patients and found to be upregulated in those with acute rejection (55). However, in humans, expression of Foxp3 is not restricted to Treg, and is also found in activated CD4⁺ T cells (56, 57), making these findings difficult to interpret in the context of tolerance.

3.4. Liver DC: relative resistance to LPS-induced stimulation

Cells in the liver are exposed continually to bacterial endotoxin (LPS) and other microbial products draining from the gut. LPS is a potent maturation stimulus

Dendritic cell immunobiology

for DC and other APC. In spite of this, freshly-isolated liver DC are phenotypically immature, suggesting that they are resistant to maturation induced by LPS *in situ*. Freshly-isolated liver mDC and CD8alpha⁺ DC express lower levels of mRNA for TLR4, the LPS receptor, compared to splenic mDC and CD8alpha⁺ DC and are less able to induce allogeneic T cell proliferation, or polarize naïve T cells towards Th1 responses in the presence of LPS (43). This impaired responsiveness of liver DC to TLR4-mediated activation reflects a phenomenon known as 'endotoxin tolerance,' i.e. transient hyporesponsiveness to this molecule following previous exposure to LPS.

LPS in the liver may further downregulate immune responses initiated by other TLR ligands ('cross tolerance'). We have shown that IL-12 production by liver mDC is significantly lower than that of spleen mDC following ligation of the TLR9 receptor *in vitro* (42). In accord with this observation, CpG-activated liver mDC are less potent activators of allogeneic Th1 responses compared to CpG-activated spleen mDC. CpG-induced IL-12 production by liver mDC is further attenuated in the presence of LPS (42), suggesting that 'cross tolerance' may indeed modulate TLR responses in the liver.

Endotoxin tolerance and cross tolerance may be enhanced by the inherently high levels of IL-10, TGF-beta and IL-6 in the liver. IL-10 and TGF-beta are wellrecognized modulators of T cell and APC function, and are produced by many cell types in the liver, including hepatocytes, KC and sinusoidal-lining endothelial cells in a type-I IFN dependent manner (57). Hepatic IL-10 is upregulated by LPS. This appears to be regulated by type-I IFN (58). pDC, that are comparatively abundant in the liver, are key producers of type-I IFN. However, the role of pDC in this model has yet to be evaluated. IL-6, found similarly in high concentrations, also appears to play a role in endotoxin tolerance in liver DC. A recent report showed that, while wildtype liver DC resist LPS-induced maturation, IL-6-deficient liver DC do not (59). This finding is supported by a recent study evaluating the influence of IL-6 on endotoxin tolerance and cross-tolerance. In this study, the concentration of TLR ligands was found to be an important factor determining the influence of IL-6 on DC maturation in response to TLR ligation (60).

LPS is elevated in the liver following IRI in rodents (61) and increased circulating LPS levels are associated with human liver transplantation (62). Therefore, the relative resistance of liver DC to LPS-induced maturation may affect allograft outcome. Mice deficient in the TLR signaling molecules, MyD88 (63, 64) or both MyD88 and TRIF (Toll/IL-1R domain-containing adaptor inducing IFNbeta) (64) accept skin grafts more readily than wild-type controls. Furthermore, exposure of the liver to soluble negative regulators of TLR signaling, such as ST2, decreases IRI (65), suggesting that further attenuation of TLR signaling may improve allograft outcome.

3.5. DC and liver transplant outcome

Donor liver-derived DC, a key constituent of the 'passenger leukocyte' population, have been implicated in

the regulation of alloimmune reactivity and liver transplant outcome (66-68). DC of donor origin can be propagated from the bone marrow of mice that accept liver allografts without immunosuppressive therapy, but not from recipients of heart allografts from the same donor strain that acutely reject their grafts (66). Liver-derived DC progenitors have been shown to induce Th2 cytokine-producing cells in secondary lymphoid tissue of allogeneic recipients (40), and to prolong pancreatic islet allograft survival (38).

The balance between potential immunostimulatory and tolerogenic DC function in the liver may be an important predictor of transplant outcome. Mobilization of DC from the bone marrow into donor mouse livers by fms-like tyrosine kinase 3 ligand (Flt3L) administration before transplant augments rejection (69, 70), that is reversed by host treatment with anti-IL-12 mAb (71). Treatment of mice with Flt3L boosts the production of large numbers of liver DC progenitors (72), and increases the numbers of mDC, CD8alpha⁺ DC and pDC in the liver (1, 44). It has been reported (42, 44, 69) that mDC and pDC from these livers exhibit increased activation markers, such as MHC II, CD80 and CD86, and enhanced allogeneic T cell stimulatory capacity, that may promote rejection, compared with hepatic DC from untreated mice. In spite of this, the T cell allostimulatory capacity of freshly-isolated or LPS-activated bulk CD11c⁺ DC isolated from the livers of Flt3L-treated mice remains inferior when compared to that of splenic mDC from the same animals (42, 43).

Rejection of Flt3L-treated mouse donor livers (as opposed to 'spontaneous' acceptance of normal allogeneic livers) may result from enhanced Th1polarizing ability of the liver DC following their in vivo mobilization (1). Allograft rejection of livers from Flt3L-treated donor mice may contravene endotoxin tolerance. While hepatic DC from Flt3L-treated animals exhibit characteristics of endotoxin tolerance, such as diminished IL-12 secretion following stimulation with LPS or CpG (42)(43), Flt3L treatment following the development of systemic endotoxin tolerance reverses the tolerant state (73). These studies suggest that conditioning of DC in the liver, rather than their mobilization to this site, is necessary for tolerance. As such, characterization of intracellular signaling pathways in hepatic DC may reveal molecular events necessary for the potentiation of DC-mediated allograft tolerance.

In humans, examination of the relative incidences of circulating pDC versus mDC precursors in the peripheral blood of liver allograft recipients has revealed a higher pDC:mDC ratio in tolerant patients and in patients on progressive, immunosuppressive drug weaning. maintenance compared with those on immunosuppression (MI) (74). These differences could not be ascribed to the levels of immunosuppressive drug therapy (75). Moreover, elevated expression of PD-L1 relative to CD86 on the surface of pDC in the tolerant patients correlated with a higher incidence of circulating Foxp3⁺ CD25⁺ CD4⁺ Treg compared with patients on MI (76).

4. MOLECULAR REGULATION OF LIVER DC SIGNALING/MATURATION

The reduced sensitivity of liver DC compared to those from other peripheral organs to stimulation with most PAMP molecules suggests that signaling through pattern recognition receptors (PRR) may also be uniquely regulated in liver DC. Altered PRR signaling also likely contributes to the phenotype of liver DC. However, compared to *in vitro*-generated DC, or DC from other organs, PRR signaling in liver DC has not been studied in detail.

While several families of PRR are known, only the well-known TLR family has been studied in liver DC. Both liver and spleen CD11c⁺ DC express TLR 1-9 mRNA (77). However, expression of individual TLRs differs between liver and spleen DC. For instance, expression of TLR4 mRNA is lower in liver compared to spleen DC (43, 77), while TLR9 mRNA or protein expression is similar between DC from these organs (42, 77). Moreover, liver DC TLR expression can differ among DC subsets. Thus, while both liver and spleen CD11c⁺ DC express quantifiable amounts of TLR1-9 mRNA, liver B220⁺CD205⁺ DC express mRNA for only TLR1, 2, 6, 7, and 9, with minimal or no transcripts for other TLR molecules (77). The liver B220⁺CD205⁺ DC exhibit greater TLR9 mRNA expression compared with both liver and spleen CD11c⁺DC (77).

Several intracellular mechanisms inhibit TLR signaling via the MyD88-IRAK (IL-1R-associated kinase)-TRAF6 (TNFR-associated factor 6) pathway. include MyD88s, a splice variant of MyD88, ST2, IRAK-M, and SIGIRR (single immunoglobulin domain IL-1Rrelated), many of which have been associated with endotoxin tolerance (78). However, only IRAK-M has been examined in liver DC. Lunz et al (59) showed that IRAK-M mRNA expression was increased significantly in liver DC and liver tissue from IL-6^{+/+} compared to IL-6^{-/-} mice. Expression of IRAK-M is known to be elevated in macrophages exposed continually to endotoxin, and similar exposure to endotoxin occurs in the liver as the result of its perfusion with gut-derived portal blood (79). More detailed examination of PRR signaling may provide roles for these and other negative PRR regulators in determining the differences in PAMP sensitivity between liver DC and those from other organs.

As with the dearth of information concerning intracellular PRR signaling in liver DC, few of the other intracellular signaling cascades that have been well-characterized in non-hepatic DC maturation and function, have been studied in liver DC. Lunz *et al* (59) have described recently how elevated STAT3 (signal transducer and activator of transcription 3) signaling in the liver compared to other organs contributes to liver DC hyporesponsiveness (59). In this study, gut-derived commensal bacterial products were shown to drive hepatic IL-6 production and activation of STAT3, thereby inhibiting liver DC maturation and function. Moreover, IL-6-¹⁻ liver DC displayed a greater maturation response to

bacterial PAMP molecules than wild-type IL-6^{+/+} liver DC. Suppression of liver DC activation by STAT3 activity is a similar mechanism to that in cancer, where constitutive STAT3 activation inhibits DC maturation and immune recognition of tumor cells (80, 81).

IL-6/STAT3 signaling may prevent DC maturation through an antagonistic relationship with nuclear factor (NF)kappaB, a common transcription factor activated during DC maturation (82). DNA binding sites for activated STAT3 and NFkappaB are known to overlap and DNA binding of STAT3 can prevent the transcription of genes, such as $\alpha 2$ macroglobulin (83). It is unknown whether NFκB and STAT3 DNA binding consensus sequences overlap in genes necessary for DC maturation. However, diminished phosphorylation of STAT3 in LPS-treated IL-10^{-/-} DC allows increased recruitment of the NFkappaB c-Rel subunit to the IL-12 promoter, a cytokine expressed typically by mature DC (84).

5. DC-NK/NKT CELL INTERACTIONS: AN EMERGING AREA OF LIVER IMMUNOBIOLOGY

The normal liver lymphocyte population comprises ~30% CD3 CD56 NK and 40% TCR V alpha 24 CD56 NKT cells, a significantly greater percentage compared to that found in the circulation and secondary lymphoid organs (85, 86). Despite the comparatively high incidence of these cells, DC interactions with NK and NKT cells in the liver are poorly-described, especially in the context of tolerance and transplantation.

The regulatory ability of NKT cells has implicated these cells in the promotion of transplant tolerance (87, 88). NKT cells comprise a T cell subset that responds to glycolipid Ag presented on CD1d molecules. Their activation results in production of Th1 or Th2 cytokines and subsequent activation of B, T, and NK cells, and DC (89, 90). NKT cell activation can also trigger Fasor perforin-dependent cytotoxic effects (91, 92). Since CD1d is expressed on numerous liver cell types, including DC and hepatocytes, this provides ample opportunity for NKT cell activation (93, 94).

The majority of NKT cell studies are performed using DC loaded with alpha galactosyl ceramide (alphaGC), a non-physiologic ligand for NKT cells (95). Stimulation of NKT cells with alphaGC induces the production of both Th1 and Th2 cytokines, and may not accurately depict their function during normal physiologic immune responses (96, 97). However, one group has shown (98) that repeated stimulation of NKT cells with alphaGC in mice induces IL-10-producing, regulatory DC with an immature phenotype, reduced NFkappaB DNA-binding activity, and ability to inhibit immune responses *in vivo*. The recent identification of myelin-derived 3'-sulfated GC (sulfatide) as a natural ligand for NKT cells may provide a more physiologic stimulus for studying NKT cell regulation of immune responses (99, 100).

Despite the relative lack of data concerning the response of NKT cells to endogenous ligands, it has been

reported that culture of NKT cells with CD1d⁺ APC in the absence of exogenous ligand skews the NKT cell response toward an IL-5/IL-13- producing Th2 phenotype (101). Therefore, the abundance of NKT cells and the expression of CD1d on liver APC could provide continuous suboptimal stimulation with endogenous ligands, leading to Th2 regulation of inflammation that may contribute to the tolerogenic properties of the liver.

NKT cell activation by alphaGC-loaded DCs results in IFNgamma and IL-12 production by NKT cells and DC, respectively. These cytokines can activate NK cells synergistically (102). Additionally, indoleamine 2,3deoxygenase (IDO), which is produced by activated pDC, has been shown to promote NK cell function (103, 104). Typically described for their anti-tumor and anti-viral cytolytic function, NK cells have also been implicated in promoting allograft tolerance through the direct lysis of donor-derived APCs from skin transplants (105). In addition, interaction of NK cells with hepatocytes results in priming of DC, leading to the induction of a regulatory T cell population that suppresses CD4⁺CD25⁻ T cell responses through a programed death (PD)-1 dependent mechanism (106). These findings provide evidence for DC-NK cell interactions that may contribute to the induction of tolerance in the liver.

The interaction of pDC with NKT cells represents another mechanism that may help to explain the tolerogenic properties of the liver. In mice, presentation of sulfatide to Type II NKT cells by pDCs in the liver results in reciprocal activation of pDCs and recruitment to the liver of invariant NKT (iNKT) cells which are anergic and prevent inflammatory liver disease through an IL-12-dependent mechanism (100) This provides direct evidence that pDC interaction with NKT cells in the liver can induce a tolerogenic phenotype upon activation by self glycolipids.

Although human pDC do not express CD1d, they express other molecules and produce cytokines that have been reported to interact with and activate NKT cells. These include glucocorticoid-induced TNF receptor ligand (GITRL), ICOSL, OX40 ligand TNF and type I IFNs (107-110). The function of these molecules in regard to NKT cell activation appears to be a costimulatory role; however, their role in the induction of tolerance remains unclear. Interestingly, it has been reported that CpG activation of human peripheral blood pDC is required for NKT cells to respond to alphaGC presentation on CD1d by mDC (111). Together, these data suggest a potential role for pDC in regulating the activation of NKT cells by other DC subsets.

Viral infections represent a substantial threat to allograft survival (112-114). This may be due to the negative effects of post-transplant immunosuppressive drug therapy on DC, as well as on the ability of the innate immune system to respond to and clear viral infections (115-118). Reduced DC availability and function may lead to impaired interaction with NK and NKT cells, consequently limiting their ability to control viral infections (119). Clearly, the roles for DC-NK/NKT cell interactions during viral infection following transplantation warrant

further investigation. Despite evidence linking DC-NK/NKT cell interactions, tolerance and transplantation, the field remains largely unexplored and open to new interpretations.

6. LIVER REGENERATION AND DC FUNCTION

It is well-known that the liver can regenerate following injury; this process is central to the success of surgical resection and live-donor liver transplantation. Many factors are believed to be involved in regulation of liver regeneration (120) and innate and adaptive immune responses are thought to play a key role. Several observations suggest that, during liver regeneration, the hepatic microenvironment promotes a transient, tissuespecific, immunosuppressed state. Vujanovic et al (121) demonstrated strong inhibition of the cytotoxic activity of liver-resident NK cells against proliferating hepatocytes soon after partial hepatectomy (PH), with restoration of their function at the end of the regenerative process (121). In a murine model of liver regeneration after PH, a temporary increase in the number of immature liver DC has been reported (122). In this model, liver DC acquired tolerogenic properties: up-regulated IL-10, down-regulated IFNgamma gene transcription and induction of Th2 cytokine production (high levels of IL-10 and low levels of IFNgamma production) by naïve allogeneic T cells. Interestingly, these functional changes were concomitant with an increase in expression of estrogen receptors by liver DC and high serum levels of 17beta-estradiol (a typical finding during liver regeneration after PH) (123, 124). Recently, there have been several reports that estrogen administration leads to clinical improvement in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE), due to changes in DC function and the promotion of a Th2 immune response (125-127). These observations suggest that, during liver regeneration, estrogen-exposed DC may play a role in local immunosuppression, by altering the balance toward a Th2-like microenvironment, as shown in EAE. Suppression of NK cell function and reduction in IFNgamma production during hepatocyte proliferation have also been reported (128) in a rat model of post-transplant liver regeneration. The authors demonstrated that infusion of NFkappaB decoy oligodeoxynucleotide-modified DC (unable to undergo maturation, and with tolerogenic potential) increased regeneration of the liver graft. In addition, the enhanced regenerative ability of the resected liver following in vivo expansion of DC by Flt3L administration (122), further suggests a role for these cells in supporting hepatocyte proliferation, possibly skewing tissue-specific Ag immune responses towards a tolerogenic state. Moreover, this positive relation between liver regeneration and immunosuppression has been confirmed in a murine model in which administration of immunosuppressants, such as tacrolimus or cyclosporine, increases hepatocyte proliferation after PH (124, 129).

IRI during organ retrieval and transplantation is associated with the release of proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines, and the recruitment of DC and other leukocytes to the liver (130). In this context, liver regeneration plays a pivotal role in the healing process and

graft survival. Loi *et al* (131) have shown that, soon after IRI in a mouse model, liver DC increase in number, especially around and within necrotic areas. Even although they exhibit a mature phenotype, these DC produce immunosuppressive cytokines (IL-10 and TGF-beta), a finding in keeping with polarization towards Th2 cytokine production by liver DC during liver regeneration after PH (122). Others, however, have shown that DC can participate in IRI damage by promoting pro-inflammatory events (132).

7. INFLUENCE OF VIRAL HEPATITIS AND LIVER CANCER ON DC FUNCTION

7.1 Viral hepatis and impairment of DC function

HCV- or HBV-related liver failure is a common indication for liver transplantation worldwide, and graft reinfection post-surgery is an important clinical problem, especially for HCV-infected patients, for whom no effective prophylaxis is available. HCV- or HBV-related hepatitis represents another condition in which the outcome depends on the balance between immunoreactivity and immunosuppression/tolerance. After viral infection, activated DC induce the differentiation of naïve T cells into virus-specific CD4⁺ (IFN-gamma; anti-viral Ab) and CD8⁺ T cells for adaptive immunity (133). These events should control and eliminate virus infection. Unfortunately, in most HCV and a significant number of HBV infections, the immune response fails to eliminate the virus. In the past few years, several authors have demonstrated functional impairment of DC in HCV-infected patients. Nattermann et al (28) have shown a decreased number of BDCA1⁺ and BDCA2⁺ DC in peripheral blood of HCV-infected patients, together with a concomitant increase in their number in liver tissue. The authors suggest that the interaction of the HCV E2 Ag with CD81, a member of the tetraspanin family (considered the cellular receptor for entry of HCV expressed on DC), could result in impaired migration of DC towards the chemokine CCL21, which modulates DC trafficking from sites of infection to lymphoid tissue, with consequent impairment of T cell priming. In addition, decreased CD86 expression and IL-12 secretion by DC from chronic HCV-infected patients has been detected, along with impaired allogeneic T cell stimulatory activity of mDC (134) and reduced IFNgamma (135) and increased IL-10 (136) secretion by T cells. Tsubouchi E et al (137) have reported that the functional impairment of DC in HCV-infected patients may be related to the presence of HCV-RNA in both mDC and pDC.

With regard to HBV infection, several studies in mice and humans have shown that the infection induces decreased T cell stimulatory activity of DC (138, 139) and the generation, by pDC, of a higher proportion of CD4⁺ CD25⁺ Treg (140). Recently, however, Tavakoli *et al* (141) have shown no quantitative, phenotypic or functional impairment of mDC or pDC in chronic HBV carriers.

Immunosuppressants such as corticosteroids, calcineurin inhibitors, and rapamycin, usually used to inhibit graft rejection by preventing DC maturation and T cell activation/proliferation, increase the risk for HCV-

related disease (142). In addition, Schvoerer *et al* (118) have shown a significant decrease in circulating pDC and mDC 7 days after liver transplantation, probably due to their migration into the liver during the first days following transplantation; such DC kinetics could be related to HCV graft reinfection.

7.2 Liver cancer, functional modification of DC and immunotolerance

Liver transplant is a treatment option for hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). Functional modification of DC and Treg is believed to play a critical role in inducing immune tolerance to tumor Ag in hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) patients. An increased prevalence of Treg in both peripheral blood and tumor tissue, able to actively suppress proliferation of autologous circulating CD4⁺CD25⁻ and CD8⁺ T cells (143, 144), has been reported in HCC. Immature-semi-mature DC have been shown to induce the development of Treg (145), and there is growing evidence of an immature phenotype of DC, both in tumor tissue and peripheral blood of HCC patients. Ninomiya et al (146) have shown that monocyte-derived DC in HCC exhibit reduced levels of HLA-DR and impaired IL-12 production and T cell allostimulatory capacity. These findings are associated also with an increased level of IL-10 and reductions in circulating mDC and pDC (147). Recently, Li et al (148) have demonstrated that tumor culture supernatant from hepatoma-derived cell lines inhibits the differentiation of monocytes into DC, with retention of CD14 and reduced expression of CD1a. Moreover, in this model, tumor culture supernatantexposed DC increased IL-10 secretion and failed to mature after LPS stimulation. Taken together, these findings suggest how the tumor microenvironment may promote mechanisms able to induce tumor immunotolerance.

8. IMPACT OF ANTI-INFLAMMATORY AND IMMUNOSUPPRESSIVE AGENTS ON DC FUNCTION

It is understood that clinical immunosuppressants target T and B lymphocytes through blockade of Ag receptors or other critical signaling pathways needed for full cell activation. However, there have been few assessments of the influence of immunosuppressants on liver DC, or for that matter, non-lymphoid tissue DC, in general. Nevertheless, based chiefly on studies of human and murine DC generated ex vivo, murine splenic DC, or circulating human DC precursors, it is apparent that immunosuppressive agents, by targeting common signaling components shared between leukocytes, exert profound immunomodulatory effects on the development and function of DC (149, 150). Several commonly-used clinical immunosuppressive/anti-inflammatory drugs, including corticosteroids, cyclosporine, tacrolimus, deoxyspergualin, mycophenolate mofetil, acetylsalicylic acid, and rapamycin, can block the immunostimulatory function of DC (149, 151). Generation of DC in the presence of these agents characteristically results in cells of reduced maturity, expressing low levels of co-stimulatory molecules, especially CD86, that elicit poor production of Th1 cytokines, including IL-12, TNF-alpha, and IFN-gamma.

Dendritic cell immunobiology

The majority of pharmacologic agents examined impede activation of NFkappaB, a central regulator of DC maturation and a systemic controller of cellular inflammatory responses (152). Pharmacologically-modified DC display resistance to maturation upon encountering inflammatory stimuli, and have propensity to induce anergy/apoptosis in responsive naïve effector T cells, even under inflammatory conditions. These DC, however, are well-suited to enrich for generate Treg and, when assessed as 'negative' vaccines for transplant tolerance, can induce long-term experimental allograft survival, which is often associated with Treg activity (153, 154).

In addition to the above immunosuppressive and anti-inflammatory agents, IL-10, TGFbeta, and LPS, all highly-enriched in the liver microenvironment, have been employed successfully to tolerogenic/immunosuppressive characteristics on DC during their the ex vivo generation (155-159). Specifically, "alternatively-activated" (AA) DC generated ex vivo in GM-CSF, IL-10, TGFbeta, and then exposed to LPS, display low levels of CD40, CD80, CD86, and produce little IL-12. Similarly to DC treated with corticosteroids, they have greatly increased expression of IL-10. Importantly, AADC generated under conditions related to those found in the liver, are poor stimulators of T cells, and induce Ag-specific hyporesponsive effector T cell responses, while directing the expansion/generation of functional Treg (155, 158, 159). In addition, infusion of AADC protects mice from lethal endotoxemia and peritonitis (157) and graft-versus-host-disease (155, 159) and, when combined with CTLA4-Ig, promotes indefinite murine allograft survival (158).

1alpha,25(O)₂D₃,- the active metabolite of vitamin D₃, is generated specifically in the liver by cytochrome p450 enzymes (25-hydroxylases; 12) and potently inhibits DC differentiation and maturation (160, 161) . DC express the vitamin D receptor and 1alpha,25(O)₂D₃ treatment of DC impairs the expression of CD40, CD80, CD86 and IL-12. It also inhibits the phosphorylation and nuclear translocation of NFkappaB, while significantly increasing IL-10 production (151). As with other immunosuppressant-modified DC when infused into murine transplant models, 1alpha,25(O)₂D₃treated DC stimulate Treg and promote transplant tolerance (162). Intriguingly, it has been demonstrated recently that human mDC themselves can metabolize vitamin D to 1alpha,25(O)₂D₃ and, as a result, modify T cell function (163). Furthermore, the modulation of human DC by 1alpha,25(O)₂D₃ appears to be highly selective, in that only mDC, and not pDC, display inhibited function (164). Specifically, while mDC were potently inhibited by treatment with 1alpha,25(O)₂D₃, similarly-treated pDC did not exhibit any discernible inhibitory effects, having unimpaired NFkappaB activation and maintaining their potent production of IFN-alpha. Thus, 1alpha,25(O)₂D₃ is similar to the glucocorticoid dexamethasone, which, although it reduces both mDC and pDC numbers in the spleen and liver of mice, does not inhibit pDC production of IFNalpha (117). Although preliminary, these findings suggest that pharmacologic

immunosuppressants, and possibly the liver environment, do not modulate DC subsets equally. Further study of the specific effects of these immunosuppressants and liverproduced factors on pDC in particular (since these cells are more abundant in the liver compared with spleen, but relatively understudied compared to mDC) may yield critical insights into the basic immunobiology of peripheral tolerance. Also, further elucidation of the shared and unique factors/mechanisms by which pharmacologic immunosuppressants and the liver environment instill tolerogenic capacity upon various DC may yield potential therapeutic targets/mechanisms. By acquiring such to knowledge, strategies mav evolve immunosuppressant treatment to act synergistically with the inherent tolerogenic properties of liver DC.

9. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors' work is supported by National Institutes of Health R01 grants AI60994, AI67541 and AI51698 (AWT), institutional research training grants T32 CA82084 (TLS) and T32 AI74490 (JGL), F32 fellowship AI072940 (HRT), and a Uehara Foundation Fellowship (DT). We thank Miriam Freeman for skilled administrative support.

10. REFERENCES

- 1. Morelli, A. E., P. J. O'Connell, A. Khanna, A. J. Logar, L. Lu & A. W. Thomson: Preferential induction of Th1 responses by functionally mature hepatic (CD8a and CD8a) dendritic cells: association with conversion from liver transplant tolerance to acute rejection. *Transplantation*, 69, 2647-2657 (2000)
- 2. O'Connell, P. J., A. E. Morelli, A. J. Logar & A. W. Thomson: Phenotypic and functional characterization of mouse hepatic CD8 alpha+ lymphoid-related dendritic cells. *J Immunol*, 165, 795-803 (2000)
- 3. Pillarisetty, V. G., A. B. Shah, G. Miller, J. I. Bleier & R. P. DeMatteo: Liver dendritic cells are less immunogenic than spleen dendritic cells because of differences in subtype composition. *J Immunol*, 172, 1009-1017 (2004)
- 4. Brenan, M. & M. Puklavec: The MRC OX-62 antigen: a useful marker in the purification of rat veiled cells with the biochemical properties of an integrin. *J Exp Med*, 175, 1457-1465 (1992)
- 5. Morelli, A. E., P. T. Coates, W. J. Shufesky, S. M. Barratt-Boyes, J. J. Fung, A. J. Demetris & A. W. Thomson: Growth Factor-Induced Mobilization of Dendritic Cells in Kidney and Liver of Rhesus Macaques: Implications for Transplantation. *Transplantation*, 83, 656-662 (2007)
- 6. Bosma, B. M., H. J. Metselaar, S. Mancham, P. P. Boor, J. G. Kusters, G. Kazemier, H. W. Tilanus, E. J. Kuipers & J. Kwekkeboom: Characterization of human liver dendritic cells in liver grafts and perfusates. *Liver Transpl*, 12, 384-393 (2006)

- 7. Goddard, S., J. Youster, E. Morgan & D. H. Adams: Interleukin-10 secretion differentiates dendritic cells from human liver and skin. *Am J Pathol*, 164, 511-519 (2004)
- 8. Abe, M., A. F. Zahorchak, B. L. Colvin & A. W. Thomson: Migratory responses of murine hepatic myeloid, lymphoid-related, and plasmacytoid dendritic cells to CC chemokines. *Transplantation*, 78, 762-765 (2004)
- 9. Yrlid, U. & G. Macpherson: Phenotype and function of rat dendritic cell subsets. *Apmis*, 111, 756-765 (2003)
- 10. Tanis, W., S. Mancham, R. Binda, H. L. Janssen, G. Bezemer, I. Jzermans JN, H. W. Tilanus, J. D. Laman, H. de Wit, H. A. Drexhage, S. W. Schalm & J. Kwekkeboom: Human hepatic lymph nodes contain normal numbers of mature myeloid dendritic cells but few plasmacytoid dendritic cells. *Clin Immunol*, 110, 81-88 (2004)
- 11. Lai, W. K., S. M. Curbishley, S. Goddard, E. Alabraba, J. Shaw, J. Youster, J. McKeating & D. H. Adams: Hepatitis C is associated with perturbation of intrahepatic myeloid and plasmacytoid dendritic cell function. *J Hepatol*, 47, 338-347 (2007)
- 12. Knolle, P. A. & G. Gerken: Local control of the immune response in the liver. *Immunol Rev*, 174, 21-34 (2000)
- 13. Lian, Z. X., T. Okada, X. S. He, H. Kita, Y. J. Liu, A. A. Ansari, K. Kikuchi, S. Ikehara & M. E. Gershwin: Heterogeneity of dendritic cells in the mouse liver: identification and characterization of four distinct populations. *J Immunol*, 170, 2323-2330 (2003)
- 14. Ochando, J. C., C. Homma, Y. Yang, A. Hidalgo, A. Garin, F. Tacke, V. Angeli, Y. Li, P. Boros, Y. Ding, R. Jessberger, G. Trinchieri, S. A. Lira, G. J. Randolph & J. S. Bromberg: Alloantigen-presenting plasmacytoid dendritic cells mediate tolerance to vascularized grafts. *Nat Immunol*, 7, 652-662 (2006)
- 15. Maldonado-Lopez, R., T. De Smedt, P. Michel, J. Godfroid, B. Pajak, C. Heirman, K. Thielemans, O. Leo, J. Urbain & M. Moser: CD8alpha+ and CD8alpha- subclasses of dendritic cells direct the development of distinct T helper cells *in vivo. J Exp Med*, 189, 587-592 (1999)
- 16. O'Connell, P. J., W. Li, Z. Wang, S. M. Specht, A. J. Logar & A. W. Thomson: Immature and mature CD8alpha+dendritic cells prolong the survival of vascularized heart allografts. *J Immunol*, 168, 143-154. (2002)
- 17. Homann, D., A. Jahreis, T. Wolfe, A. Hughes, B. Coon, M. J. van Stipdonk, K. R. Prilliman, S. P. Schoenberger & M. G. von Herrath: CD40L blockade prevents autoimmune diabetes by induction of bitypic NK/DC regulatory cells. *Immunity*, 16, 403-415 (2002)
- 18. Pillarisetty, V. G., S. C. Katz, J. I. Bleier, A. B. Shah & R. P. Dematteo: Natural killer dendritic cells have both antigen presenting and lytic function and in

- response to CpG produce IFN-gamma via autocrine IL-12. J Immunol, 174, 2612-2618 (2005)
- 19. Kudo, S., K. Matsuno, T. Ezaki & M. Ogawa: A novel migration pathway for rat dendritic cells from the blood: hepatic sinusoids-lymph translocation. *J Exp Med*, 185, 777-784 (1997)
- 20. Steiniger, B., J. Klempnauer & K. Wonigeit: Phenotype and histological distribution of interstitial dendritic cells in the rat pancreas, liver, heart, and kidney. *Transplantation*, 38, 169-174 (1984)
- 21. Woo, J., L. Lu, A. S. Rao, Y. Li, V. Subbotin, T. E. Starzl & A. W. Thomson: Isolation, phenotype, and allostimulatory activity of mouse liver dendritic cells. *Transplantation*, 58, 484-491 (1994)
- 22. Yoneyama, H., K. Matsuno, Y. Zhang, M. Murai, M. Itakura, S. Ishikawa, G. Hasegawa, M. Naito, H. Asakura & K. Matsushima: Regulation by chemokines of circulating dendritic cell precursors, and the formation of portal tract-associated lymphoid tissue, in a granulomatous liver disease. *J Exp Med*, 193, 35-49 (2001)
- 23. Matsuno, K., H. Nomiyama, H. Yoneyama & R. Uwatoku: Kupffer cell-mediated recruitment of dendritic cells to the liver crucial for a host defense. *Dev Immunol*, 9, 143-149 (2002)
- 24. Uwatoku, R., M. Suematsu, T. Ezaki, T. Saiki, M. Tsuiji, T. Irimura, N. Kawada, T. Suganuma, M. Naito, M. Ando & K. Matsuno: Kupffer cell-mediated recruitment of rat dendritic cells to the liver: roles of Nacetylgalactosamine-specific sugar receptors. *Gastroenterology*, 121, 1460-1472 (2001)
- 25. Sato, T., H. Yamamoto, C. Sasaki & K. Wake: Maturation of rat dendritic cells during intrahepatic translocation evaluated using monoclonal antibodies and electron microscopy. *Cell Tissue Res*, 294, 503-514 (1998)
- 26. van den Oord, J. J., R. De Vos, F. Facchetti, J. Delabie, C. De Wolf-Peeters & V. J. Desmet: Distribution of nonlymphoid, inflammatory cells in chronic HBV infection. *J Pathol*, 160, 223-230 (1990)
- 27. Matsuno, K., T. Ezaki, S. Kudo & Y. Uehara: A life stage of particle-laden rat dendritic cells *in vivo*: their terminal division, active phagocytosis, and translocation from the liver to the draining lymph. *J Exp Med*, 183, 1865-1878 (1996)
- 28. Nattermann, J., H. Zimmermann, A. Iwan, M. von Lilienfeld-Toal, L. Leifeld, H. D. Nischalke, B. Langhans, T. Sauerbruch & U. Spengler: Hepatitis C virus E2 and CD81 interaction may be associated with altered trafficking of dendritic cells in chronic hepatitis C. *Hepatology*, 44, 945-954 (2006)
- 29. Bishop, G. A., J. Sun, D. J. DeCruz, K. L. Rokahr, J. D. Sedgwick, A. G. Sheil, N. D. Gallagher & G. W.

- McCaughan: Tolerance to rat liver allografts. III. Donor cell migration and tolerance-associated cytokine production in peripheral lymphoid tissues. *J Immunol*, 156, 4925-4931 (1996)
- 30. Sharland, A., S. Shastry, C. Wang, K. Rokahr, J. Sun, A. G. Sheil, G. W. McCaughan & G. A. Bishop: Kinetics of intragraft cytokine expression, cellular infiltration, and cell death in rejection of renal allografts compared with acceptance of liver allografts in a rat model: early activation and apoptosis is associated with liver graft acceptance. *Transplantation*, 65, 1370-1377 (1998)
- 31. Sharland, A., Y. Yan, C. Wang, D. G. Bowen, J. Sun, A. G. Sheil, G. W. McCaughan & G. A. Bishop: Evidence that apoptosis of activated T cells occurs in spontaneous tolerance of liver allografts and is blocked by manipulations which break tolerance. *Transplantation*, 68, 1736-1745 (1999)
- 32. Mayumi, H., K. Himeno, N. Tokuda, J. L. Fan & K. Nomoto: Drug-induced tolerance to allografts in mice. X. Augmentation of split tolerance in murine combinations disparate at both H-2 and non-H-2 antigens by the use of spleen cells from donors preimmunized with recipient antigens. *Immunobiology*, 174, 274-291. (1987)
- 33. Furuhashi, T., Y. Yamaguchi, F. S. Wang, S. Uchino, K. Okabe, H. Ohshiro, S. Kihara, S. Yamada, K. Mori & M. Ogawa: Hepatic CCR7lowCD62LlowCD45RClow allograft dendritic cells migrate to the splenic red pulp in immunologically unresponsive rats. *J Surg Res*, 124, 29-37 (2005)
- 34. Mebius, R. E. & G. Kraal: Structure and function of the spleen. *Nat Rev Immunol*, 5, 606-616 (2005)
- 35. Veldhoen, M., R. J. Hocking, C. J. Atkins, R. M. Locksley & B. Stockinger: TGFbeta in the context of an inflammatory cytokine milieu supports de novo differentiation of IL-17-producing T cells. *Immunity*, 24, 179-189 (2006)
- 36. Yamazaki, S., K. Inaba, K. V. Tarbell & R. M. Steinman: Dendritic cells expand antigen-specific Foxp3+CD25+CD4+ regulatory T cells including suppressors of alloreactivity. *Immunol Rev*, 212, 314-329 (2006)
- 37. Lu, L., J. Woo, A. S. Rao, Y. Li, S. C. Watkins, S. Qian, T. E. Starzl, A. J. Demetris & A. W. Thomson: Propagation of dendritic cell progenitors from normal mouse liver using granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor and their maturational development in the presence of type-1 collagen. *J Exp Med*, 179, 1823-1834 (1994)
- 38. Rastellini, C., L. Lu, C. Ricordi, T. E. Starzl, A. S. Rao & A. W. Thomson: Granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor-stimulated hepatic dendritic cell progenitors prolong pancreatic islet allograft survival. *Transplantation*, 60, 1366-1370 (1995)

- 39. Abe, M., S. M. Akbar, N. Horiike & M. Onji: Induction of cytokine production and proliferation of memory lymphocytes by murine liver dendritic cell progenitors: role of these progenitors as immunogenic resident antigen-presenting cells in the liver. *J Hepatol*, 34, 61-67 (2001)
- 40. Khanna, A., A. E. Morelli, C. Zhong, T. Takayama, L. Lu & A. W. Thomson: Effects of liver-derived dendritic cell progenitors on Th1- and Th2-like cytokine responses *in vitro* and *in vivo*. *J Immunol*, 164, 1346-1354 (2000)
- 41. Tang, T. J., D. Vukosavljevic, H. L. Janssen, R. S. Binda, S. Mancham, H. W. Tilanus, J. N. Ijzermans, H. Drexhage & J. Kwekkeboom: Aberrant composition of the dendritic cell population in hepatic lymph nodes of patients with hepatocellular carcinoma. *Hum Pathol*, 37, 332-338 (2006)
- 42. Abe, M., D. Tokita, G. Raimondi & A. W. Thomson: Endotoxin modulates the capacity of CpG-activated liver myeloid DC to direct Th1-type responses. *Eur J Immunol*, 36, 2483-2493 (2006)
- 43. De Creus, A., M. Abe, A. H. Lau, H. Hackstein, G. Raimondi & A. W. Thomson: Low TLR4 expression by liver dendritic cells correlates with reduced capacity to activate allogeneic T cells in response to endotoxin. *J Immunol*, 174, 2037-2045 (2005)
- 44. Kingham, T. P., U. I. Chaudhry, G. Plitas, S. C. Katz, J. Raab & R. P. DeMatteo: Murine liver plasmacytoid dendritic cells become potent immunostimulatory cells after Flt-3 ligand expansion. *Hepatology*, 45, 445-454 (2007)
- 45. Hokeness-Antonelli, K. L., M. J. Crane, A. M. Dragoi, W. M. Chu & T. P. Salazar-Mather: IFN-alphabeta-mediated inflammatory responses and antiviral defense in liver is TLR9-independent but MyD88-dependent during murine cytomegalovirus infection. *J Immunol*, 179, 6176-6183 (2007)
- 46. Katz, S. C., V. G. Pillarisetty, J. I. Bleier, T. P. Kingham, U. I. Chaudhry, A. B. Shah & R. P. DeMatteo: Conventional liver CD4 T cells are functionally distinct and suppressed by environmental factors. *Hepatology*, 42, 293-300 (2005)
- 47. Watanabe, T., H. Katsukura, T. Chiba, T. Kita & Y. Wakatsuki: Periportal and sinusoidal liver dendritic cells suppressing T helper type 1-mediated hepatitis. *Gut*, 56, 1445-1451 (2007)
- 48. Wolk, K., E. Witte, U. Hoffmann, W. D. Doecke, S. Endesfelder, K. Asadullah, W. Sterry, H. D. Volk, B. M. Wittig & R. Sabat: IL-22 induces lipopolysaccharide-binding protein in hepatocytes: a potential systemic role of IL-22 in Crohn's disease. *J Immunol*, 178, 5973-5981 (2007)

- 49. Zenewicz, L. A., G. D. Yancopoulos, D. M. Valenzuela, A. J. Murphy, M. Karow & R. A. Flavell: Interleukin-22 but not interleukin-17 provides protection to hepatocytes during acute liver inflammation. *Immunity*, 27, 647-659 (2007)
- 50. Radaeva, S., R. Sun, H. N. Pan, F. Hong & B. Gao: Interleukin 22 (IL-22) plays a protective role in T cell-mediated murine hepatitis: IL-22 is a survival factor for hepatocytes via STAT3 activation. *Hepatology*, 39, 1332-1342 (2004)
- 51. Moseman, E. A., X. Liang, A. J. Dawson, A. Panoskaltsis-Mortari, A. M. Krieg, Y. J. Liu, B. R. Blazar & W. Chen: Human plasmacytoid dendritic cells activated by CpG oligodeoxynucleotides induce the generation of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. *J Immunol*, 173, 4433-4442 (2004)
- 52. Ito, T., M. Yang, Y. H. Wang, R. Lande, J. Gregorio, O. A. Perng, X. F. Qin, Y. J. Liu & M. Gilliet: Plasmacytoid dendritic cells prime IL-10-producing T regulatory cells by inducible costimulator ligand. *J Exp Med*, 204, 105-115 (2007)
- 53. Jiang, X., M. Morita, A. Sugioka, M. Harada, S. Kojo, H. Wakao, H. Watarai, N. Ohkohchi, M. Taniguchi & K. Seino: The importance of CD25+ CD4+ regulatory T cells in mouse hepatic allograft tolerance. *Liver Transpl*, 12, 1112-1118 (2006)
- 54. Steger, U., C. I. Kingsley, M. Karim, A. R. Bushell & K. J. Wood: CD25+CD4+ regulatory T cells develop in mice not only during spontaneous acceptance of liver allografts but also after acute allograft rejection. *Transplantation*, 82, 1202-1209 (2006)
- 55. Demirkiran, A., C. C. Baan, A. Kok, H. J. Metselaar, H. W. Tilanus & L. J. van der Laan: Intrahepatic detection of FOXP3 gene expression after liver transplantation using minimally invasive aspiration biopsy. *Transplantation*, 83, 819-823 (2007)
- 56. Allan, S. E., L. Passerini, R. Bacchetta, N. Crellin, M. Dai, P. C. Orban, S. F. Ziegler, M. G. Roncarolo & M. K. Levings: The role of 2 FOXP3 isoforms in the generation of human CD4+ Tregs. *J Clin Invest*, 115, 3276-3284 (2005)
- 57. Lau, A. H., A. de Creus, L. Lu & A. W. Thomson: Liver tolerance mediated by antigen presenting cells: fact or fiction? *Gut*, 52, 1075-1078 (2003)
- 58. Wegenka, U. M., N. Dikopoulos, J. Reimann, G. Adler & C. Wahl: The murine liver is a potential target organ for IL-19, IL-20 and IL-24: Type I Interferons and LPS regulate the expression of IL-20R2. *J Hepatol*, 46, 257-265 (2007)
- 59. Lunz, J. G., 3rd, S. M. Specht, N. Murase, K. Isse & A. J. Demetris: Gut-derived commensal bacterial products inhibit liver dendritic cell maturation by stimulating hepatic

- interleukin-6/signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 activity. *Hepatology*, 46, 1946-1959 (2007)
- 60. Geisel, J., F. Kahl, M. Muller, H. Wagner, C. J. Kirschning, I. B. Autenrieth & J. S. Frick: IL-6 and maturation govern TLR2 and TLR4 induced TLR agonist tolerance and cross-tolerance in dendritic cells. *J Immunol*, 179, 5811-5818 (2007)
- 61. Tsoulfas, G., Y. Takahashi, R. W. Ganster, G. Yagnik, Z. Guo, J. J. Fung, N. Murase & D. A. Geller: Activation of the lipopolysaccharide signaling pathway in hepatic transplantation preservation injury. *Transplantation*, 74, 7-13 (2002)
- 62. Steininger, R., E. Roth, R. Fugger, S. Winkler, F. Langle, T. Grunberger, P. Gotzinger, T. Sautner & F. Muhlbacher: Transhepatic metabolism of TNF-alpha, IL-6, and endotoxin in the early hepatic reperfusion period after human liver transplantation. *Transplantation*, 58, 179-183 (1994)
- 63. Goldstein, D. R., B. M. Tesar, S. Akira & F. G. Lakkis: Critical role of the Toll-like receptor signal adaptor protein MyD88 in acute allograft rejection. *J Clin Invest*, 111, 1571-1578 (2003)
- 64. McKay, D., A. Shigeoka, M. Rubinstein, C. Surh & J. Sprent: Simultaneous deletion of MyD88 and Trif delays major histocompatibility and minor antigen mismatch allograft rejection. *Eur J Immunol*, 36, 1994-2002 (2006)
- 65. Yin, H., B. J. Huang, H. Yang, Y. F. Huang, P. Xiong, F. Zheng, X. P. Chen, Y. F. Chen & F. L. Gong: Pretreatment with soluble ST2 reduces warm hepatic ischemia/reperfusion injury. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 351, 940-946 (2006)
- 66. Lu, L., W. A. Rudert, S. Qian, D. McCaslin, F. Fu, A.S. Rao, M. Trucco, J. J. Fung, T. E. Starzl & A. W. Thomson: Growth of donor-derived dendritic cells from the bone marrow of murine liver allograft recipients in response to granulocyte/macrophage colony stimulating factor. *J Exp Med*, 182, 379-387 (1995)
- 67. Thomson, A. W., L. Lu, N. Murase, A. J. Demetris, A. S. Rao & T. E. Starzl: Microchimerism, dendritic cell progenitors and transplantation tolerance. *Stem Cells* (*Dayt*), 13, 622-639 (1995)
- 68. Benseler, V., G. W. McCaughan, H. J. Schlitt, G. A. Bishop, D. G. Bowen & P. Bertolino: The liver: a special case in transplantation tolerance. *Semin Liver Dis*, 27, 194-213 (2007)
- 69. Steptoe, R. J., F. Fu, W. Li, M. L. Drakes, L. Lu, A. J. Demetris, S. Qian, H. J. McKenna & A. W. Thomson: Augmentation of dendritic cells in murine organ donors by Flt3 ligand alters the balance between transplant tolerance and immunity. *J Immunol*, 159, 5483-5491 (1997)

- 70. Qian, S., L. Lu, F. Fu, W. Li, F. Pan, R. J. Steptoe, F. G. Chambers, T. E. Starzl, J. J. Fung & A. W. Thomson: Donor pretreatment with Flt-3 ligand augments antidonor cytotoxic T lymphocyte, natural killer, and lymphokine-activated killer cell activities within liver allografts and alters the pattern of intragraft apoptotic activity. *Transplantation*, 65, 1590-1598 (1998)
- 71. Li, W., L. Lu, Z. Wang, L. Wang, J. J. Fung, A. W. Thomson & S. Qian: IL-12 antagonism enhances apoptotic death of T cells within hepatic allografts from Flt3 ligand-treated donors and promotes graft acceptance. *J Immunol*, 166, 5619-5628. (2001)
- 72. Drakes, M. L., L. Lu, V. M. Subbotin & A. W. Thomson: *In vivo* administration of flt3 ligand markedly stimulates generation of dendritic cell progenitors from mouse liver. *J Immunol*, 159, 4268-4278 (1997)
- 73. Wysocka, M., L. J. Montaner & C. L. Karp: Flt3 ligand treatment reverses endotoxin tolerance-related immunoparalysis. *J Immunol*, 174, 7398-7402 (2005)
- 74. Mazariegos, G. V., A. F. Zahorchak, J. Reyes, L. Ostrowski, B. Flynn, A. Zeevi & A. W. Thomson: Dendritic cell subset ratio in peripheral blood correlates with successful withdrawal of immunosuppression in liver transplant patients. *Am J Transplant*, 3, 689-696 (2003)
- 75. Mazariegos, G. V., A. F. Zahorchak, J. Reyes, H. Chapman, A. Zeevi & A. W. Thomson: Dendritic cell subset ratio in tolerant, weaning and non-tolerant liver recipients is not affected by extent of immunosuppression. *Am J Transplant*, 5, 314-322 (2005)
- 76. Tokita, D., G.V. Mazariegos, A.F. Zahorchak, N. Chien, M. Abe, G. Raimondi & A.W. Thomson: High PD-L1/CD86 ratio on plasmacytoid DC correlates with elevated T regulatory cell frequency in operational liver transplant tolerance. *Transplantation* 85, 369-377 (2008)
- 77. Wang, Y., N. Zheng, Z. Lu, W. Wu, L. Wang, A. Nakao, M. T. Lotze, C. E. Langer, J. J. Fung, S. Qian & L. Lu: *In vivo* expansion of two distinct dendritic cells in mouse livers and its impact on liver immune regulation. *Liver Transpl*, 12, 1850-1861 (2006)
- 78. Krishnan, J., K. Selvarajoo, M. Tsuchiya, G. Lee & S. Choi: Toll-like receptor signal transduction. *Exp Mol Med*, 39, 421-438 (2007)
- 79. Kobayashi, K., L. D. Hernandez, J. E. Galan, C. A. Janeway, Jr., R. Medzhitov & R. A. Flavell: IRAK-M is a negative regulator of Toll-like receptor signaling. *Cell*, 110, 191-202 (2002)
- 80. Nefedova, Y., M. Huang, S. Kusmartsev, R. Bhattacharya, P. Cheng, R. Salup, R. Jove & D. Gabrilovich: Hyperactivation of STAT3 is involved in abnormal differentiation of dendritic cells in cancer. *J Immunol*, 172, 464-474 (2004)

- 81. Nefedova, Y., P. Cheng, D. Gilkes, M. Blaskovich, A. A. Beg, S. M. Sebti & D. I. Gabrilovich: Activation of dendritic cells via inhibition of Jak2/STAT3 signaling. *J Immunol*, 175, 4338-4346 (2005)
- 82. Rescigno, M., M. Martino, C. L. Sutherland, M. R. Gold & P. Ricciardi-Castagnoli: Dendritic cell survival and maturation are regulated by different signaling pathways. *J Exp Med*, 188, 2175-2180 (1998)
- 83. Zhang, Z. & G. M. Fuller: The competitive binding of STAT3 and NF-kappaB on an overlapping DNA binding site. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 237, 90-94 (1997)
- 84. Hoentjen, F., R. B. Sartor, M. Ozaki & C. Jobin: STAT3 regulates NF-kappaB recruitment to the IL-12p40 promoter in dendritic cells. *Blood*, 105, 689-696 (2005)
- 85. Hata, K., X. R. Zhang, S. Iwatsuki, D. H. Van Thiel, R. B. Herberman & T. L. Whiteside: Isolation, phenotyping, and functional analysis of lymphocytes from human liver. *Clin Immunol Immunopathol*, 56, 401-419 (1990)
- 86. Kenna, T., L. Golden-Mason, S. A. Porcelli, Y. Koezuka, J. E. Hegarty, C. O'Farrelly & D. G. Doherty: NKT cells from normal and tumor-bearing human livers are phenotypically and functionally distinct from murine NKT cells. *J Immunol*, 171, 1775-1779 (2003)
- 87. Kiyomoto, T., T. Ito, F. Uchikoshi, A. Ohkawa, Y. Akamaru, G. Miao, H. Komoda, T. Nishida & H. Matsuda: The potent role of graft-derived NKR-P1+TCRalphabeta+T (NKT) cells in the spontaneous acceptance of rat liver allografts. *Transplantation*, 80, 1749-1755 (2005)
- 88. Oh, K., S. Kim, S. H. Park, H. Gu, D. Roopenian, D. H. Chung, Y. S. Kim & D. S. Lee: Direct regulatory role of NKT cells in allogeneic graft survival is dependent on the quantitative strength of antigenicity. *J Immunol*, 174, 2030-2036 (2005)
- 89. Bendelac, A., P. B. Savage & L. Teyton: The biology of NKT cells. *Annu Rev Immunol*, 25, 297-336 (2007)
- 90. Van Kaer, L. & S. Joyce: Innate immunity: NKT cells in the spotlight. *Curr Biol*, 15, R429-431 (2005)
- 91. Arase, H., N. Arase & T. Saito: Fas-mediated cytotoxicity by freshly isolated natural killer cells. *J Exp Med*, 181, 1235-1238 (1995)
- 92. Kawano, T., T. Nakayama, N. Kamada, Y. Kaneko, M. Harada, N. Ogura, Y. Akutsu, S. Motohashi, T. Iizasa, H. Endo, T. Fujisawa, H. Shinkai & M. Taniguchi: Antitumor cytotoxicity mediated by ligand-activated human V alpha24 NKT cells. *Cancer Res*, 59, 5102-5105 (1999)
- 93. Exley, M. A. & M. J. Koziel: To be or not to be NKT: natural killer T cells in the liver. *Hepatology*, 40, 1033-1040 (2004)

- 94. Trobonjaca, Z., F. Leithauser, P. Moller, R. Schirmbeck & J. Reimann: Activating immunity in the liver. I. Liver dendritic cells (but not hepatocytes) are potent activators of IFN-gamma release by liver NKT cells. *J Immunol*, 167, 1413-1422 (2001)
- 95. Kawano, T., J. Cui, Y. Koezuka, I. Toura, Y. Kaneko, K. Motoki, H. Ueno, R. Nakagawa, H. Sato, E. Kondo, H. Koseki & M. Taniguchi: CD1d-restricted and TCR-mediated activation of valpha14 NKT cells by glycosylceramides. *Science*, 278, 1626-1629 (1997)
- 96. Exley, M., J. Garcia, S. P. Balk & S. Porcelli: Requirements for CD1d recognition by human invariant Valpha24+ CD4-CD8- T cells. *J Exp Med*, 186, 109-120 (1997)
- 97. Bendelac, A., O. Lantz, M. E. Quimby, J. W. Yewdell, J. R. Bennink & R. R. Brutkiewicz: CD1 recognition by mouse NK1+ T lymphocytes. *Science*, 268, 863-865 (1995)
- 98. Kojo, S., K. Seino, M. Harada, H. Watarai, H. Wakao, T. Uchida, T. Nakayama & M. Taniguchi: Induction of regulatory properties in dendritic cells by Valpha14 NKT cells. *J Immunol*, 175, 3648-3655 (2005)
- 99. Zajonc, D. M., I. Maricic, D. Wu, R. Halder, K. Roy, C. H. Wong, V. Kumar & I. A. Wilson: Structural basis for CD1d presentation of a sulfatide derived from myelin and its implications for autoimmunity. *J Exp Med*, 202, 1517-1526 (2005)
- 100. Halder, R. C., C. Aguilera, I. Maricic & V. Kumar: Type II NKT cell-mediated anergy induction in type I NKT cells prevents inflammatory liver disease. *J Clin Invest*, 117, 2302-2312 (2007)
- 101. Sakuishi, K., S. Oki, M. Araki, S. A. Porcelli, S. Miyake & T. Yamamura: Invariant NKT cells biased for IL-5 production act as crucial regulators of inflammation. *J Immunol*, 179, 3452-3462 (2007)
- 102. Eberl, G. & H. R. MacDonald: Selective induction of NK cell proliferation and cytotoxicity by activated NKT cells. *Eur J Immunol*, 30, 985-992 (2000)
- 103. Kai, S., S. Goto, K. Tahara, A. Sasaki, K. Kawano & S. Kitano: Inhibition of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase suppresses NK cell activity and accelerates tumor growth. *J Exp Ther Oncol*, 3, 336-345 (2003)
- 104. Kai, S., S. Goto, K. Tahara, A. Sasaki, S. Tone & S. Kitano: Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase is necessary for cytolytic activity of natural killer cells. *Scand J Immunol*, 59, 177-182 (2004)
- 105. Yu, G., X. Xu, M. D. Vu, E. D. Kilpatrick & X. C. Li: NK cells promote transplant tolerance by killing donor antigen-presenting cells. *J Exp Med*, 203, 1851-1858 (2006)
- 106. Jinushi, M., T. Takehara, T. Tatsumi, S. Yamaguchi, R. Sakamori, N. Hiramatsu, T. Kanto, K. Ohkawa & N.

- Hayashi: Natural killer cell and hepatic cell interaction via NKG2A leads to dendritic cell-mediated induction of CD4 CD25 T cells with PD-1-dependent regulatory activities. *Immunology*, 120, 73-82 (2007)
- 107. Kim, H. J., H. Y. Kim, B. K. Kim, S. Kim & D. H. Chung: Engagement of glucocorticoid-induced TNF receptor costimulates NKT cell activation *in vitro* and *in vivo. J Immunol*, 176, 3507-3515 (2006)
- 108. Kaneda, H., K. Takeda, T. Ota, Y. Kaduka, H. Akiba, Y. Ikarashi, H. Wakasugi, M. Kronenberg, K. Kinoshita, H. Yagita & K. Okumura: ICOS costimulates invariant NKT cell activation. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 327, 201-207 (2005)
- 109. Marschner, A., S. Rothenfusser, V. Hornung, D. Prell, A. Krug, M. Kerkmann, D. Wellisch, H. Poeck, A. Greinacher, T. Giese, S. Endres & G. Hartmann: CpG ODN enhance antigen-specific NKT cell activation via plasmacytoid dendritic cells. *Eur J Immunol*, 35, 2347-2357 (2005)
- 110. Zaini, J., S. Andarini, M. Tahara, Y. Saijo, N. Ishii, K. Kawakami, M. Taniguchi, K. Sugamura, T. Nukiwa & T. Kikuchi: OX40 ligand expressed by DCs costimulates NKT and CD4+ Th cell antitumor immunity in mice. *J Clin Invest*, 117, 3330-3338 (2007)
- 111. Montoya, C. J., H. B. Jie, L. Al-Harthi, C. Mulder, P. J. Patino, M. T. Rugeles, A. M. Krieg, A. L. Landay & S. B. Wilson: Activation of plasmacytoid dendritic cells with TLR9 agonists initiates invariant NKT cell-mediated crosstalk with myeloid dendritic cells. *J Immunol*, 177, 1028-1039 (2006)
- 112. Williams, M. A., J. T. Tan, A. B. Adams, M. M. Durham, N. Shirasugi, J. K. Whitmire, L. E. Harrington, R. Ahmed, T. C. Pearson & C. P. Larsen: Characterization of virus-mediated inhibition of mixed chimerism and allospecific tolerance. *J Immunol*, 167, 4987-4995 (2001)
- 113. Forman, D., R. M. Welsh, T. G. Markees, B. A. Woda, J. P. Mordes, A. A. Rossini & D. L. Greiner: Viral abrogation of stem cell transplantation tolerance causes graft rejection and host death by different mechanisms. *J Immunol*, 168, 6047-6056 (2002)
- 114. Jakel, K. T. & T. Loning: Herpes virus infections, acute rejection, and transplant arteriosclerosis in human cardiac allografts. *Transplant Proc*, 25, 2029-2030 (1993)
- 115. Giraud, S., N. Dhedin, H. Gary-Gouy, P. Lebon, J. P. Vernant & A. Dalloul: Plasmacytoid dendritic cell reconstitution following bone marrow transplantation: subnormal recovery and functional deficit of IFN-alpha/beta production in response to herpes simplex virus. *J Interferon Cytokine Res*, 25, 135-143 (2005)
- 116. Boor, P. P., H. J. Metselaar, S. Mancham, H. W. Tilanus, J. G. Kusters & J. Kwekkeboom: Prednisolone

- suppresses the function and promotes apoptosis of plasmacytoid dendritic cells. *Am J Transplant*, 6, 2332-2341 (2006)
- 117. Abe, M. & A. W. Thomson: Dexamethasone preferentially suppresses plasmacytoid dendritic cell differentiation and enhances their apoptotic death. *Clin Immunol*, 118, 300-306 (2006)
- 118. Schvoerer, E., C. Thumann, S. Spohrer, E. Soulier, C. Royer, N. Brignon, S. Doridot, N. Meyer, B. Ellero, M. L. Woehl-Jaegle, C. Meyer, P. Wolf, D. Jaeck & F. Stoll-Keller: Early decrease in circulating dendritic cells number after liver transplantation could favor hepatitis C virus recurrence. *J Med Virol*, 78, 1070-1075 (2006)
- 119. Broxmeyer, H. E., A. Dent, S. Cooper, G. Hangoc, Z. Y. Wang, W. Du, J. Gervay-Haque, V. Sriram, G. J. Renukaradhya & R. R. Brutkiewicz: A role for natural killer T cells and CD1d molecules in counteracting suppression of hematopoiesis in mice induced by infection with murine cytomegalovirus. *Exp Hematol*, 35, 87-93 (2007)
- 120. Michalopoulos, G. K.: Liver regeneration. *J Cell Physiol*, 213, 286-300 (2007)
- 121. Vujanovic, N. L., L. Polimeno, A. Azzarone, A. Francavilla, W. H. Chambers, T. E. Starzl, R. B. Herberman & T. L. Whiteside: Changes of liver-resident NK cells during liver regeneration in rats. *J Immunol*, 154, 6324-6338 (1995)
- 122. Castellaneta, A., A. Di Leo, R. Francavilla, M. Margiotta, M. Barone, A. Amoruso, L. Troiani, A. W. Thomson & A. Francavilla: Functional modification of CD11c+ liver dendritic cells during liver regeneration after partial hepatectomy in mice. *Hepatology*, 43, 807-816 (2006)
- 123. Eagon, P. K., L. E. Porter, A. Francavilla, A. DiLeo & D. H. Van Thiel: Estrogen and androgen receptors in liver: their role in liver disease and regeneration. *Semin Liver Dis*, 5, 59-69 (1985)
- 124. Francavilla, A., M. Barone, T. E. Starzl, A. Zeevi, C. Scotti, G. Carrieri, V. Mazzaferro, J. Prelich, S. Todo, G. Eiras & et al.: FK 506 as a growth control factor. *Transplant Proc*, 22, 90-92 (1990)
- 125. Liu, H. Y., A. C. Buenafe, A. Matejuk, A. Ito, A. Zamora, J. Dwyer, A. A. Vandenbark & H. Offner: Estrogen inhibition of EAE involves effects on dendritic cell function. *J Neurosci Res*, 70, 238-248 (2002)
- 126. Lang, T. J.: Estrogen as an immunomodulator. Clin Immunol, 113, 224-230 (2004)
- 127. Pettersson, A., C. Ciumas, V. Chirsky, H. Link, Y. M. Huang & B. G. Xiao: Dendritic cells exposed to estrogen *in vitro* exhibit therapeutic effects in ongoing experimental

- allergic encephalomyelitis. J Neuroimmunol, 156, 58-65 (2004)
- 128. Xu, M. Q., Y. P. Suo, J. P. Gong, M. M. Zhang & L. N. Yan: Augmented regeneration of partial liver allograft induced by nuclear factor-kappaB decoy oligodeoxynucleotides-modified dendritic cells. *World J Gastroenterol*, 10, 573-578 (2004)
- 129. Francavilla, A., T. E. Starzl, M. Barone, Q. H. Zeng, K. A. Porter, A. Zeevi, P. M. Markus, M. R. van den Brink & S. Todo: Studies on mechanisms of augmentation of liver regeneration by cyclosporine and FK 506. *Hepatology*, 14, 140-143 (1991)
- 130. Teoh, N. C. & G. C. Farrell: Hepatic ischemia reperfusion injury: pathogenic mechanisms and basis for hepatoprotection. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol*, 18, 891-902 (2003)
- 131. Loi, P., F. Paulart, B. Pajak, N. Nagy, I. Salmon, M. Moser, M. Goldman & V. Flamand: The fate of dendritic cells in a mouse model of liver ischemia/reperfusion injury. *Transplant Proc*, 36, 1275-1279 (2004)
- 132. Tsung, A., N. Zheng, G. Jeyabalan, K. Izuishi, J. R. Klune, D. A. Geller, M. T. Lotze, L. Lu & T. R. Billiar: Increasing numbers of hepatic dendritic cells promote HMGB1-mediated ischemia-reperfusion injury. *J Leukoc Biol*, 81, 119-128 (2007)
- 133. Bowen, D. G. & C. M. Walker: Adaptive immune responses in acute and chronic hepatitis C virus infection. *Nature*, 436, 946-952 (2005)
- 134. Bain, C., A. Fatmi, F. Zoulim, J. P. Zarski, C. Trepo & G. Inchauspe: Impaired allostimulatory function of dendritic cells in chronic hepatitis C infection. *Gastroenterology*, 120, 512-524 (2001)
- 135. Wertheimer, A. M., A. Bakke & H. R. Rosen: Direct enumeration and functional assessment of circulating dendritic cells in patients with liver disease. *Hepatology*, 40, 335-345 (2004)
- 136. Kanto, T., M. Inoue, H. Miyatake, A. Sato, M. Sakakibara, T. Yakushijin, C. Oki, I. Itose, N. Hiramatsu, T. Takehara, A. Kasahara & N. Hayashi: Reduced numbers and impaired ability of myeloid and plasmacytoid dendritic cells to polarize T helper cells in chronic hepatitis C virus infection. *J Infect Dis*, 190, 1919-1926 (2004)
- 137. Tsubouchi, E., S. M. Akbar, N. Horiike & M. Onji: Infection and dysfunction of circulating blood dendritic cells and their subsets in chronic hepatitis C virus infection. *J Gastroenterol*, 39, 754-762 (2004)
- 138. Akbar, S. M., M. Onji, K. Inaba, K. Yamamura & Y. Ohta: Low responsiveness of hepatitis B virus-transgenic mice in antibody response to T-cell-dependent antigen: defect in antigen-presenting activity of dendritic cells. *Immunology*, 78, 468-475 (1993)

- 139. Arima, S., S. M. Akbar, K. Michitaka, N. Horiike, H. Nuriya, M. Kohara & M. Onji: Impaired function of antigen-presenting dendritic cells in patients with chronic hepatitis B: localization of HBV DNA and HBV RNA in blood DC by *in situ* hybridization. *Int J Mol Med*, 11, 169-174 (2003)
- 140. Vahlenkamp, T. W., M. B. Tompkins & W. A. Tompkins: The role of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells in viral infections. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol*, 108, 219-225 (2005)
- 141. Tavakoli, S., I. Mederacke, S. Herzog-Hauff, D. Glebe, S. Grun, D. Strand, S. Urban, A. Gehring, P. R. Galle & W. O. Bocher: Peripheral blood dendritic cells are phenotypically and functionally intact in chronic hepatitis B virus (HBV) infection. *Clin Exp Immunol*, 151, 61-70 (2008)
- 142. Berenguer, M., M. Prieto, F. San Juan, J. M. Rayon, F. Martinez, D. Carrasco, A. Moya, F. Orbis, J. Mir & J. Berenguer: Contribution of donor age to the recent decrease in patient survival among HCV-infected liver transplant recipients. *Hepatology*, 36, 202-210 (2002)
- 143. Ormandy, L. A., T. Hillemann, H. Wedemeyer, M. P. Manns, T. F. Greten & F. Korangy: Increased populations of regulatory T cells in peripheral blood of patients with hepatocellular carcinoma. *Cancer Res*, 65, 2457-2464 (2005)
- 144. Unitt, E., S. M. Rushbrook, A. Marshall, S. Davies, P. Gibbs, L. S. Morris, N. Coleman & G. J. Alexander: Compromised lymphocytes infiltrate hepatocellular carcinoma: the role of T-regulatory cells. *Hepatology*, 41, 722-730 (2005)
- 145. Roncarolo, M. G., M. K. Levings & C. Traversari: Differentiation of T regulatory cells by immature dendritic cells. *J Exp Med*, 193, F5-9 (2001)
- 146. Ninomiya, T., S. M. Akbar, T. Masumoto, N. Horiike & M. Onji: Dendritic cells with immature phenotype and defective function in the peripheral blood from patients with hepatocellular carcinoma. *J Hepatol*, 31, 323-331 (1999)
- 147. Beckebaum, S., X. Zhang, X. Chen, Z. Yu, A. Frilling, G. Dworacki, H. Grosse-Wilde, C. E. Broelsch, G. Gerken & V. R. Cicinnati: Increased levels of interleukin-10 in serum from patients with hepatocellular carcinoma correlate with profound numerical deficiencies and immature phenotype of circulating dendritic cell subsets. *Clin Cancer Res*, 10, 7260-7269 (2004)
- 148. Li, L., S. P. Li, J. Min & L. Zheng: Hepatoma cells inhibit the differentiation and maturation of dendritic cells and increase the production of regulatory T cells. *Immunol Lett*, 114, 38-45 (2007)

- 149. Hackstein, H. & A. W. Thomson: Dendritic cells: emerging pharmacological targets of immunosuppressive drugs. *Nat Rev Immunol*, 4, 24-35 (2004)
- 150. Morelli, A. E. & A. W. Thomson: Tolerogenic dendritic cells and the quest for transplant tolerance. *Nat Rev Immunol*, 7, 610-621 (2007)
- 151. Adorini, L., N. Giarratana & G. Penna: Pharmacological induction of tolerogenic dendritic cells and regulatory T cells. *Semin Immunol*, 16, 127-134 (2004)
- 152. Li, Q. & I. M. Verma: NF-kappaB regulation in the immune system. *Nat Rev Immunol*, 2, 725-734 (2002)
- 153. Turnquist, H., G. Raimondi & A. W. Thomson: Rapamycin-conditioned dendritic cells are resistant to maturation induced by CD40 ligation -- a condition pivotal to their selective expansion of Treg. *Am J Transplant*, Suppl, 2459 (2006)
- 154. Mirenda, V., I. Berton, J. Read, T. Cook, J. Smith, A. Dorling & R. I. Lechler: Modified dendritic cells coexpressing self and allogeneic major histocompatibility complex molecules: an efficient way to induce indirect pathway regulation. *J Am Soc Nephrol*, 15, 987-997 (2004)
- 155. Sato, K., N. Yamashita, M. Baba & T. Matsuyama: Modified myeloid dendritic cells act as regulatory dendritic cells to induce anergic and regulatory T cells. *Blood*, 101, 3581-3589 (2003)
- 156. Sato, K., N. Yamashita, N. Yamashita, M. Baba & T. Matsuyama: Regulatory dendritic cells protect mice from murine acute graft-versus-host disease and leukemia relapse. *Immunity*, 18, 367-379 (2003)
- 157. Fujita, S., K. Seino, K. Sato, Y. Sato, K. Eizumi, N. Yamashita, M. Taniguchi & K. Sato: Regulatory dendritic cells act as regulators of acute lethal systemic inflammatory response. *Blood*, 107, 3656-3664 (2006)
- 158. Lan, A., Z. Wang, G. Raimondi, W. Wu, B. L. Colvin, A DeCreus & A. W. Thomson: 'Alternatively-activated' dendritic cells preferentially secrete IL-10, expand Foxp3⁺ CD4⁺ T cells and induce long-term organ allograft survival in combination with CTLA4-Ig. *J Immunol*, 177, 5868-5877 (2006)
- 159. Fujita, S., Y. Sato, K. Sato, K. Eizumi, T. Fukaya, M. Kubo, N. Yamashita & K. Sato: Regulatory dendritic cells protect against cutaneous chronic graft-versus-host disease mediated through CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ regulatory T cells. *Blood*, 110, 3793-3803 (2007)
- 160. Penna, G. & L. Adorini: 1 Alpha,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 inhibits differentiation, maturation, activation, and survival of dendritic cells leading to impaired alloreactive T cell activation. *J Immunol*, 164, 2405-2411 (2000)

Dendritic cell immunobiology

- 161. Griffin, M. D., W. Lutz, V. A. Phan, L. A. Bachman, D. J. McKean & R. Kumar: Dendritic cell modulation by lalpha,25 dihydroxyvitamin D3 and its analogs: a vitamin D receptor-dependent pathway that promotes a persistent state of immaturity *in vitro* and *in vivo*. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 98, 6800-6805 (2001)
- 162. Yates, S. F., A. M. Paterson, K. F. Nolan, S. P. Cobbold, N. J. Saunders, H. Waldmann & P. J. Fairchild: Induction of regulatory T cells and dominant tolerance by dendritic cells incapable of full activation. *J Immunol*, 179, 967-976 (2007)
- 163. Sigmundsdottir, H., J. Pan, G. F. Debes, C. Alt, A. Habtezion, D. Soler & E. C. Butcher: DCs metabolize sunlight-induced vitamin D3 to 'program' T cell attraction to the epidermal chemokine CCL27. *Nat Immunol*, 8, 285-293 (2007)
- 164. Penna, G., S. Amuchastegui, N. Giarratana, K. C. Daniel, M. Vulcano, S. Sozzani & L. Adorini: 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 selectively modulates tolerogenic properties in myeloid but not plasmacytoid dendritic cells. *J Immunol*, 178, 145-153 (2007)

Abbreviations: APC, antigen-presenting cell; CpG, cytidylyl phosphate guanosine; DC, dendritic cell(s); Flt3L, fms-like tyrosine 3 kinase ligand; HCV, hepatitis C virus; IFN, interferon; IRI, ischemia-reperfusion injury; KC, Kupffer cell; CPS, lipopolysaccharide; mDC, myeloid DC; NF (kappaB), nuclear factor; NK, natural killer; PALT, portal-associated lymphoid tissue; pDC, plasmacytoid DC; PH, partial hepatectomy; PRR, pattern recognition receptors; TGF(beta), transforming growth factor; Th, T helper; TLR, Toll-like receptor; Treg, regulatory T cell.

Key Words: Dendritic Cells, Liver, Immunity, Tolerance, Transplantation, Toll-like receptors, T cells, Review

Send correspondence to: Angus W. Thomson, University of Pittsburgh, 200 Lothrop Street, BST W1540, Pittsburgh, PA 15261, Tel: 412-624-6392, Fax: 412-624-1172, E-mail: thomsonaw@upmc.edu

http://www.bioscience.org/current/volE1.htm